STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Marion County

Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 08 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

PRESTON MOZEAK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-002530

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial court erred in charging the jury that it was their “duty . . . to determine the truth in this case,” “arrive at a verdict which speaks the truth,” and that “the word verdict, which has a Latin derivative, means a true saying” where such instructions improperly detracted from the state’s burden to prove the elements of the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt?

II. Whether the trial court erred in admitting the out-of-court interview of the minor child where it did not possess particularized guarantees of trustworthiness due to the interviewer’s use of leading questions, the lack of details regarding the alleged offenses, and the lack of internal coherence?

III. Whether the trial court erred in finding the minor child competent to testify where she testified that she had practiced her testimony with her mother every night for over a week from the time her mother came home from work until her bedtime and such blatant coaching made the minor child incapable of understanding her duty to tell the truth and testify only based upon her personal knowledge?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 5, 2014, the Marion County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Preston Mozeak for one count of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and one count of third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 223. The offenses were alleged to have occurred against Mozeak's then seven-year-old granddaughter ("the Minor Child"), between August 1, 2014 and November 21, 2014.

On November 18-19, 2015, Mozeak appeared for trial before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. and a jury. Mozeak was represented by Thurmond Brooker, and the state was represented by assistant solicitors David Richardson and John Holt. R. 1.

The jury found Mozeak guilty of both offenses. R. 215 – 216. Judge Seals sentenced him to concurrent terms of twenty-five years for first-degree CSC and fifteen years for third-degree CSC. R. 221.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mozeak and his wife, Lillie, were the parents of two adult sons, Tony and Preston, Jr.¹ R. 136, l. 17 – 137, l. 10. Tony and his wife, Latasha, have a daughter (“the Minor Child”) and son, who the Mozeaks (collectively referring to Preston and Lillie Mozeak) cared for after school from the time the children got off of the school bus until their parents picked them up at approximately 6:00 p.m. R. 139, l. 17 – 140, l. 5. The jury saw the recorded pre-trial interview with the Minor Child and heard her live testimony at trial. She claimed both that Mozeak digitally penetrated her and that she stroked Mozeak’s penis with her hand. She alleged that the acts took place in Mozeak’s car on the way to or from the grocery store and park and in the Mozeak’s living room, all in the presence of her younger brother, though she said he did not see anything. She further alleged that her grandmother was in the kitchen during the instance at the house. R. 47 – 85; see State’s Ex. 1 (DVD Forensic Interview), on file with this Court. Neither the Minor Child’s brother nor her grandmother testified. The Minor Child’s mother, Latasha Mozeak, alleged seeing some behavioral changes in the Minor Child after she disclosed the alleged abuse but admitted that she had no suspicions prior to the Minor Child’s disclosure. R. 99, l. 12 – 100, l. 7; R. 109, l. 21 – 115, l. 21. The “forensic interviewer” did not testify beyond authenticating the recording of her interview with the Minor Child. R. 122 – 126. No physical examination was ever performed on the Minor Child. R. 100, l. 25 – 101, l. 19.

In Camera Hearing on Admissibility of “Forensic Interview”

A pre-trial hearing was conducted on the admissibility of the recording of the Minor Child’s interview at the Care House child advocacy center pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-23-175. In addition to hearing testimony from Sally Williamson, who conducted the interview of

¹ Lillie was pregnant with Tony when they were married, but he is not Mozeak’s biological son. R. 219, l. 16 – 220, l. 2.

the Minor Child, the trial court reviewed the recording of the November 25, 2014 interview itself. R. 9 – 28. On the video, the Minor Child described falling asleep while the alleged abuse took place. She also described hearing her grandma and grandpa talking about grandpa going to jail and her grandma telling her to stay away from grandpa. Then she said that her grandma did not know about grandpa touching her. The Minor Child could not answer questions about whether the incident at her grandparent’s home was before or after the incident in the car on the way to Food Lion, except to say they were on different days while she was in second grade. State’s Ex. 1 (DVD Forensic Interview).

After describing those two occasions of alleged abuse, Williamson said “tell me about another time.” The Minor Child responded: “Well, I – it did happen to me, but I keep on forgetting these kind of times because – because everything when I blink, um, it – it takes pictures, um, where I was, I think.” State’s Ex. 1 (DVD Forensic Interview). On cross-examination at the *in camera* hearing, Williamson admitted that she never asked the Minor Child to clarify what she meant when she said she would fall asleep during the alleged abuse or that when she blinks it takes a picture. R. 18, l. 8 – 21, l. 6.

When asked how many times grandpa had touched her “pee-hole,” the Minor Child held up ten fingers. Williamson asked her to tell her about another one of those times and the Minor Child said “well, that’s all I can remember.” When asked to tell her about any other places it happened, the Minor Child said she would do the same thing to “him,” again claiming that they were in the car, that time on the way to the park, and falling asleep. Throughout the interview, the Minor Child referred to “dad,” “daddy,” and “grandpa.” When asked if she ever calls grandpa “daddy,” the Minor Child shook her head in the affirmative. State’s Ex. 1 (DVD Forensic Interview).

Williamson asked the Minor Child if anything happened before she was in second grade and if it ever happened when she was in first grade. The Minor Child shook her head in the negative. Williamson then asked if it ever happened before first grade, to which the Minor Child again said “no.” Williamson responded: “So, were you seven all the times it happened or a different age?” The Minor Child said “a different age” and Williamson asked “What age?” Then the Minor Child perked up and said: “Okay, six, five, and four.” Williamson asked: “So did it happen when you were six, five, and four, or only when you were seven?” Then the Minor Child said “seven.” State’s Ex. 1 (DVD Forensic Interview). Williamson admitted that her presentation of only two alternatives was “poor” questioning. R. 21, l. 7 – 22, l. 24.

Following the *in camera* testimony and review of the video, defense counsel argued that the statement lacked internal coherence, citing the responses of the Minor Child that did not make sense. He specifically referenced her claims that she fell asleep during the alleged abuse and that her eyes took pictures when she blinks. Defense counsel noted that the Minor Child was only seven years old at the time of the interview, making her more prone to “flowing between reality and fantasy” and more susceptible to direct and indirect influence. R. 26, l. 5 – 27, l. 16.

The solicitor made no argument. The trial judge ruled that the questions were not leading, the statement was detailed enough, and that it was coherent and made sense “when you take into account that it’s a seven-year-old child.” He accordingly ruled that the recording of the interview was “trustworthy enough” to be admitted at trial. R. 28, ll. 11-23.

Minor Child Admits Coaching

During the leading direct examination conducted by the solicitor, the Minor Child repeated many of the allegations made during the Care House interview, though with surprisingly more clarity. R. 51, ll. 15-23; R. 54, l. 24 – 63, l. 21. On cross-examination, the following exchange occurred between defense counsel and the Minor Child:

DEFENSE COUNSEL: All right. Now, first of all, let me ask you did you prepare for your testimony today?

MINOR CHILD: Yes, sir.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: How did you prepare for your testimony today?

MINOR CHILD: With my mom every time when she comes from work we practice.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay. You practice your testimony?

MINOR CHILD: (Shook head)

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay. How long do you practice your testimony?

MINOR CHILD: Like until it's my bedtime.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: All right. How long is that?

MINOR CHILD: Some minutes because I go to bed at eight o'clock. It be a little later than that.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay. Is that an hour or two hours? How long do you think it is? I know that you said when you get home from work until you go to bed, just roughly how long that is do you think?

MINOR CHILD: Like two hours or three.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Two hours or three. And how long have you been practicing your testimony?

MINOR CHILD: Until like it's my bedtime or like I want to be finish with my testimony.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay. And when I said how long have you been doing it and I'm sorry I didn't ask the right question. If you been –

MINOR CHILD: How long I been preparing?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Well, have you been practicing for – when I say how long, I'm talking about the length of time has it been weeks or months this is –

MINOR CHILD: Some days 'til today.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: I'm sorry.

MINOR CHILD: Some days 'till today.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Some day 'till day. Do you remember when you first started practicing?

MINOR CHILD: (Nod head)

DEFENSE COUNSEL: More than a week?

MINOR CHILD: You can say that. Me and my mom we been ready Wednesday, so we kept practicing.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: You kept practicing. Okay. All right. And what parts of your testimony did you practice?

MINOR CHILD: Like when someone going to ask me about what happened, where was it, how did it happen and something like that.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay. So you all practice you know what you would say?

MINOR CHILD: (Nod head)

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay. Did you practice hard to try to remember everything?

MINOR CHILD: Yes, sir.

R. 65, l. 10 – 67, l. 8. Defense counsel then asked to make a motion outside of the presence of the jury and the judge sent the jury out. R. 67, ll. 9-15.

Defense counsel argued that the Minor Child's testimony disqualified her from testifying due to a lack of competency and personal knowledge. He argued that the coaching of the Minor Child made it such that it was impossible to distinguish what testimony was based upon her actual recollection of events and what was "drilled" into her by her mother. R. 67, l. 16 – 70, l. 12. The solicitor responded that the Minor Child never said she was told what to say and the mother was acting as any parent would in trying to make their child comfortable on the witness stand. He further argued that the jury could compare the testimony to the taped interview and determine the Minor Child's credibility. R. 70, ll. 14-23.

The trial judge ruled:

I agree [with the solicitor]. I think considering her age, the sensitive [nature] of the testimony that she has to give in court, the seriousness of court, the importance of court. The fact that it involves a family member. The idea that a parent will practice a little bit with their child I think is appropriate, most lawyers practice with their witnesses anyway. I'm going to overrule it. I think she's very capable of telling the truth. **I think she is telling the truth.** That's for the jury to decide, that's for the jury to decide, that's for your cross-examination. You may cross-examine her in that regard.

R. 70, l. 24 – 71, l. 9 (emphasis added).

When the jury returned, the Minor Child testified that she and her mother "talked about what I was going to say like what we thought they was going to say." R. 71, l. 18 – 72, l. 1. When asked if she "testif[ied] about what [she] was going to say," the Minor Child responded: "Yes, sir, my mom she was the one acting like who was going to ask me the questions and I was the one who was going to answer them." R. 72, ll. 4-7. Not surprisingly, the Minor Child's mother denied telling the Minor Child what to say or planting anything in her head. R. 103, ll. 4-19. The jury, obviously troubled by the coaching, sent a note out during their deliberations asking if the Minor Child's mother and father had access to the DVD. R. 214, ll. 13-15.

Jury Charge and Objection

At the close of the jury charge, the trial judge instructed the jury:

It is your duty by your joint deliberations to determine the truth in this case giving to the defendant the benefit of every reasonable doubt on each and every issue. Then to the facts which you determine to be **true**, you should take and apply the law which has been given to you by this court **and thus arrive at a verdict which speaks the truth. In fact, the word verdict, which has a Latin derivative, means a true saying.** Thus, when you have accomplished these responsibilities, you will have satisfied your oath as jurors and you will have discharged your duty to this Court.

R. 210, ll. 10-20. Following the charge, defense counsel objected to the portion of the charge instructing the jury to seek the truth. Counsel recalled that the appellate courts had admonished trial judges against using such language because it detracts from the state's burden to prove the elements of the offense. R. 212, l. 15 – 213, l. 13. The solicitor declined to respond. R. 213, ll. 14-15. The trial judge ruled that he would “leave [the charge] like it is.” R. 213, ll. 16-17.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court erred in charging the jury that it was their “duty . . . to determine the truth in this case,” “arrive at a verdict which speaks the truth,” and that “the word verdict, which has a Latin derivative, means a true saying” where such instructions improperly detracted from the state’s burden to prove the elements of the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt.**

Introduction

Mozeak was convicted solely on the word of the alleged victim in this case. Her scattered responses during the forensic interview were remarkably more coherent under the leading examination of the solicitor. Neither her videotaped interview nor her in-court testimony should have been admitted. The former did not comply with the statutory requirements for admission due its lack of internal coherence, lack of detail, and the use of leading questions. The latter was rendered inadmissible when the Minor Child admitted that her mother had been coaching her for at least one week. In addition to those errors in the admission of evidence, the trial court erred in instructing the jurors that it was their “duty . . . to determine the truth in this case,” “arrive at a verdict which speaks the truth,” and that “the word verdict, which has a Latin derivative , means a true saying.”

Discussion

Eighteen years ago, in State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998), our Supreme Court strongly urged trial judges to avoid using any “seek” language in their charges to the jury. The Court noted that such “in search of the truth” language was unnecessary and ran the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to the defendant. 333 S.C. at 151-56, 508 S.E.2d at 865-68.

In State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000), our Supreme Court repeated its warning that trial courts should avoid using any “seek the truth” language. However, the court in Aleksey noted that in that case the “seek” language was used in the instruction on witness

credibility. 343 S.C. at 27, 538 S.E.2d at 251-52. The “seek” language did not appear in either the reasonable doubt or circumstantial evidence portion of the instruction. *Id.* Thus, the Aleksey Court found that there was not a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the challenged instruction in a manner inconsistent with the state’s burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 28-29, 538 S.E.2d at 252-53.

In State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012), our Supreme Court considered a jury instruction that “whatever verdict you reach will represent truth and justice for all parties that are involved in this case.” Although the issue was not preserved, the Court instructed trial judges “[to] remove any suggestion from his general sessions charges that a criminal jury’s duty is to return a verdict that is ‘just’ or ‘fair’ to all parties. Such a charge could effectively alter the jury’s perception of the burden of proof, substituting justice and fairness for the presumption of innocence and the State’s burden to prove the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” 401 S.C. at 256, 737 S.E.2d at 475.

Despite our Supreme Court’s repeated admonitions regarding the dangers of “seek the truth” language in the court’s jury charge, trial judges have continued to employ new derivatives of this burden shifting language. Recently, in State v. Beaty, Op. No. 27693 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 29, 2016) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 1 at 13), our Supreme Court reviewed the trial court’s preliminary remarks to the jury, which included use of the terms “search[ing] for the truth,” “true facts,” and “just verdict.” The Court ruled:

[W]e agree with appellant that a trial court should refrain from informing the jury, whether through comments or through its charge, that its role is to search for the truth, or to find the true facts, or to render a just verdict. These phrases may be understood to place an obligation on the jury, independent of the burden of proof, to determine the circumstances surrounding the alleged crime and from those facts alone render the verdict it believes best serves the jury's perception of justice. We caution trial judges to avoid these terms and any other that may divert the jury from its obligation in a criminal case to determine, based solely on the

evidence presented, whether the State has proven the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

Beaty, at 15-16. Even so, the Beaty Court found no prejudice sufficient to warrant reversal from the comments in light of its review of the entirety of the opening comments and the trial record.

Id. at 16.

A recent empirical study reveals the practical reality of the problems with truth-related language in jury charges. Michael D. Cicchini & Lawrence T. White, Truth or Doubt? An Empirical Test of Criminal Jury Instructions, 50 U. Rich. L. Rev. 1139 (2016). Two-hundred ninety-eight mock jurors were presented with the same fact pattern of a hypothetical sexual assault case, which included an instruction on the elements of the crime charged; a synopsis of testimony from the minor child, the child's mother, and the defendant; and closing arguments from the prosecution and defense. Cicchini, at 1150-51. The mock jurors were randomly given one of three jury charges – a “to search for the truth” instruction, a “doubt-only” instruction, or a “combination” truth and doubt instruction. Cicchini, at 1152-53. The study provided strong empirical data that “the truth-related language at the end of an otherwise proper reasonable doubt instruction actually diminishes the government's burden of proof.” Cicchini, at 1155. The authors opined that their study reflects the invalidity of the judicial perception that the remainder of a jury charge can render the “truth” language harmless. Cicchini, at 1156-57.

Here, **the final substantive instruction from the trial judge** to the jury was that it was their duty to determine the truth, decide the facts that were true, arrive at a verdict which “speaks the truth” and that verdict means “true saying.” R. 210, ll. 10-20. The jury's questions regarding a description of Asperger's syndrome, from which the Minor Child's younger brother suffered, and whether the Minor Child's parents had seen her recorded interview, are evidence of their

focus on determining the “truth” rather than evaluating the evidence that was presented. R. 214, ll. 10-15.

It is simply not the jury’s function to search for the truth. A jury’s function is to determine whether the state has proven the defendant’s guilt *beyond a reasonable doubt*. See Francis v. Franklin, 471 U.S. 307, 313 (1985) (“The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.” (citing In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970))). The trial judge’s refusal to rectify his erroneous charge was not harmless in this case because there is evidence that the jury sought information outside of the record, ostensibly to fulfill their truth-finding mission and empirical data suggests that the inclusion of truth-finding language diminishes the state’s burden of proof. Mozeak is accordingly entitled to a new trial.

II. The trial court erred in admitting the out-of-court interview of the minor child where it did not possess particularized guarantees of trustworthiness due to the interviewer's use of leading questions, the lack of details regarding the alleged offenses, and the lack of internal coherence.

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