STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-002530

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

PRESTON MOZEAK,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

E.L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

Box Q
City-County Complex
Florence, SC 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's argument regarding the trial court's use of the word "truth" during the jury charges is not preserved. Even if preserved, the trial court properly charged the jury and made clear the jury's duty was to determine, based on the evidence presented, whether the State had proven Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Any conceivable prejudice created by the trial court's reference to arriving at a verdict that speaks the truth was cured by the trial court's extensive instructions that the State bore the burden of proving Appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in charging the jury that it was their "duty . . . to determine the truth in this case" and "arrive at a verdict which speaks the truth," and that "the word verdict, which has a Latin derivative, means a true saying" where such instructions improperly detracted from the State's burden to prove the elements of the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt. On the contrary, none of the charge that involved the word "truth" in any way detracted from the emphasis the trial judge placed on the State's burden to prove the elements of the crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, no prejudice existed. The jury charge was proper, and this Court should affirm.

Initially, the State submits this particular issue is not preserved for appellate review. While Appellant did have a discussion with the trial judge following the jury charges, he did not specifically object to the charges. When asked if there were any objections (after having no objections whatsoever when he read the jury instructions before the judge charged the jury), defense counsel simply stated,

I don't think, Your Honor, is - - the only concern that I have with it is the part that says basically is the jury is to seek a verdict that seeks the truth. And if I'm not and like I said, I don't have any case law, but from my memory is that I remember probably about [a] year ago reading some law in reference to that in which there

was a lot of cases in which the superior courts had admonished as to whether or not that sort of language is appropriate specifically is is that when it comes to asking the jury whether or not they're seeking the truth. I think it -- and I think it goes as to whether or not that's somehow shift or change the burden and that they're supposed to be looking for and that is is that whether or not the State has satisfied, you know, the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. So their job is not to seek the proof but determine whether or not that burden has been satisfied. So like I said, I can't quote any law. It struck my mind when that part was read and **so I'll leave it to Your Honor's discretion with respect to what he has.**

(R. 212, line 19–R. 213, line 13) (emphasis added). Significantly, defense counsel never used the word “objection” in his comments to the trial judge. Indeed, he ended what he had to say by telling the trial judge he was leaving it to his discretion. He did not ask for the judge to recharge the jury with a curative instruction or for any other remedy. Even the judge's response seems to indicate he did not regard defense counsel's statements as an objection that needed to be ruled upon. The trial judge merely stated that he was “going to leave it like it is,” rather than ruling “overruled” or “denied.” Thus, it is questionable whether a valid objection on the part of defense counsel was made.

If this Court finds this was a valid objection, Appellant's argument still fails on the merits. The appropriate test for reviewing a jury charge involves determining whether there is a reasonable likelihood the jury applied the charge in a way that violated the Constitution. *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 71 (1991). Ultimately, “[a] trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.” *State v. Rye*, 375 S.C. 119, 123, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007); see *State v. Ezell*, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) (“A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.”).

The irony of Appellant’s argument is that the central function of the trial process in both criminal and civil cases is to discover the truth. *See Portuondo v. Agard*, 529 U.S. 61, 73 (2000) (stating “the central function of [a] trial . . . is to discover the truth”); *see also State v. Wren*, 322 S.C. 103, 105, 470 S.E.2d 111, 112 (Ct. App. 1996) (“A trial is a search for the truth[.]”); *see, e.g., Carella v. California*, 491 U.S. 263, 265 (1989) (explaining that burden-relieving jury instructions “subvert the presumption of innocence accorded to accused persons and also **invade the truth-finding task assigned solely to juries** in criminal cases” (emphasis added)). Rather than detracting from the State’s burden as Appellant claims, the State’s burden to prove a criminal defendant’s guilt for every element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt is part of the truth-seeking process. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970); *see also Burr v. Florida*, 474 U.S. 879, 880 (1985) (“[T]he **beacon of the truth-seeking process** in criminal cases is not absolute certainty, but the ‘reasonable doubt’ standard[.]” (emphasis added)).

Our Supreme Court has cautioned trial judges to avoid using language that instructs the jury to “seek the truth” due to the **risk** that such language could **potentially** shift the burden of proof to the defendant in an unconstitutional manner. *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 27–28, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000). Additionally, the Supreme Court has advised trial judges not to instruct jurors that their verdicts “would represent truth and justice for the parties” due to the risk that such language could distract the jury from its core functions. *State v. Daniels*, 401 S.C. 251, 258, 737 S.E.2d 473, 477 (2012) (Toal, C.J., concurring for the majority). However, our Supreme Court specifically declined to hold that **any** mention of “the truth” in jury charges is unconstitutional. *See Aleksey*, 343 S.C. at 28, n. 2, 538 S.E.2d at 252 (“Although settled law disfavors instructing jurors to seek the truth in some contexts because it might be misleading as to the burden of proof, we decline to hold any mention of ‘the truth’ in jury charges is

unconstitutional.”); *see also State v. Hoffman*, 312 S.C. 386, 395, 440 S.E.2d 869, 874 (1994) (holding a reasonable doubt jury charge that included “in seeking the truth” language constituted a correct definition of reasonable doubt when read as a whole and did not shift the burden of proof to the defendant). In *State v. Beaty*, decided after this trial, our Supreme Court again addressed “searching for the truth” language. *State v. Beaty*, Op. No. 27693 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec, 29, 2016) (reh’g granted March 24, 2017). The Court was able to distinguish *Beaty* from *Aleksey* because the comments were made right after the jury was sworn, not as part of the jury charges. The Court did point out that trial courts should “refrain from informing the jury, whether through comments or through its charge, that its role is to search for the truth, or to find the true facts, or to render a just verdict” because of the fear of burden shifting. It then determined that even though the trial court erred, prejudice was not shown that would warrant reversal.

In the instant case, the “seeking the truth” comment came at the end of the jury charges, not during a discussion of the State’s obligation to prove Appellant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt and not right after the jury was sworn. The comments were made during an effort by the trial court to impart to jurors the gravity of their responsibility. The comment in this context was not improper.

This situation is very similar to the one in *Aleksey*. There, the Court looked at when the “truth” language was given to the jury and determined that because it was not given in either the reasonable doubt or circumstantial evidence charges, there was no error. The Court found “the reasonable doubt and circumstantial evidence charges were complete and proper.” *Aleksey*, 343 S.C. at 27, 538 S.E.2d at 252. In *Aleksey*, the “truth” language was given as part of the instruction on witness credibility. Here, the language was given at the end of the jury charges

after all of the substantive instructions had been given, including the charges on reasonable doubt and circumstantial evidence. Thus, the reasonable doubt standard of proof was not diluted by the “truth” language.

Indeed, as shown below, the trial court did an exemplary job of communicating the State’s burden of proving the charges beyond a reasonable doubt, so the isolated comment at the end of the substantive jury charges was not prejudicial to Appellant. *See State v. Raffaldt*, 318 S.C. 110, 115–16, 456 S.E.2d 390, 393 (1995) (finding a jury charge instructing the jury to “seek some reasonable explanation other than the guilt of the accused” was erroneously burden-shifting but determining any error with that instruction was harmless because the charge as a whole properly explained the State had the burden of establishing Raffaldt’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt); *see also State v. Needs*, 333 S.C. 134, 154, 508 S.E.2d 857, 867 (1998) (“In *Manning*, the Court pointed to the ‘in search of the truth’ language contained in the reasonable doubt charge as contributing to its defective nature. However, appellate courts since have seemed to allow the use of the phrase – at least when it is not combined with other offending terms outlined in *Manning*.” (citations omitted)).

The trial court instructed Appellant’s jury as follows on the State’s burden:

In this case, the State of South Carolina charges the defendant with the offenses known as criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree and criminal sexual conduct with a minor third degree. To these charges, the defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. These pleas of not guilty places [sic] **the burden of proof on the State to prove the guilt of the defendant to you beyond a reasonable doubt on each charge**. It is vital to understand that the defendant is presumed under the law to be innocent of the charges. It is a fundamental rule of our law that a defendant regardless of the seriousness of the charges against him is always presumed innocent of the crimes for which he is charged, **unless and until his guilt has been proved by evidence that satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt**. The presumption of innocence is not a mere legal theory or legal phrase. The presumption of innocence is very important. And you need to understand that this presumption accompanies the defendant from the time of his arrest and

appearance in this court and continues with the defendant even after you retire to the jury room to deliberate.

In other words, the defendant receives the benefit of the presumption of innocence until the very end of this trial. **When you, the jury, would deliberate upon the evidence and decide whether the State has proved his guilt on each and every charge beyond a reasonable doubt.**

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is proof that leaves you firmly convinced of the defendant's guilt. There are few things in this world that we know with absolute certainty, so even in criminal cases the law does not require proof that overcomes every possible doubt. However, if based on your consideration of the evidence, you are firmly convinced that the defendant is guilty of the crimes charged, you must find him guilty. If on the other hand you think there's a real possibility that he is not guilty, you must give him the benefit of the doubt and find him not guilty. Please understand that reasonable doubt may arise from evidence which has been presented in the case or from the lack of evidence in the case. **It is your responsibility to determine whether or not reasonable doubt exist[s] as to the guilt of this defendant on each and every charge.** I charge you that the defendant is entitled to every reasonable doubt arising in the whole case. If upon any issues of fact essential to conviction in a verdict of guilty, you have a reasonable doubt as to how that issue should be resolved. It would be your duty to resolve that reasonable doubt in favor of the defendant. Thus, in summary it is important to understand that a defendant is not required prove his innocence. Instead, **the State is required by law to prove every essential element of the charges against the defendant by evidence which satisfies you of his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt** only then can you convict the defendant and find him guilty.

(R. 204, line 17–R. 205, line 18; R. 207, line 10–R. 208, line 12) (emphasis added).

The trial court advised the jury it is the exclusive judge of facts. (R. 206, lines 12–19.) In discussing the specific offenses, the trial court informed the jury the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant engaged in a sexual battery with Victim. (R. 208, lines 23–25). The trial court further informed the jury that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant willfully and lewdly committed or attempted to commit a lewd or lascivious act upon the body of Victim. (R. 209, lines 14–19). In describing the offenses, the trial court made clear that each of the elements of the crimes had to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. 208, line 25–R. 210, line 3).

Put in context, the trial court's comments merely imparted the gravity of the jurors' responsibility. The comments did not create any real danger that the jurors would not follow the trial court's extensive instructions on the State's burden of proving the charges beyond a reasonable doubt that were mentioned at least eleven times within the jury charge. *See State v. Smith*, 315 S.C. 547, 554, 446 S.E.2d 411, 415 (1994) ("Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error."). Accordingly, the trial court did not err, and Appellant was not prejudiced by any perceived error.

II.

The trial court did not err in admitting the videotaped forensic interview because the court, in a hearing outside the presence of the jury, properly found that the forensic interview shows particularized guarantees of trustworthiness based on the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement and thus satisfies S.C. Code section 17-23-175.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting the videotaped forensic interview, claiming it did not possess particularized guarantees of trustworthiness due to the interviewer's use of leading questions, the lack of details regarding the alleged offenses, and the lack of internal coherence. On the contrary, the trial court held an *in camera* hearing (during which both parties were able to question the forensic interviewer), viewed the videotape, and properly found it satisfied the requirements of the statute. This Court should affirm its decision.

The forensic interview video statute at issue provides:

(A) In a general sessions court proceeding or a delinquency proceeding in family court, an out-of-court statement of a child is admissible if:

- (1) the statement was given in response to questioning conducted during an investigative interview of the child;
- (2) an audio and visual recording of the statement is preserved on film, videotape, or other electronic means, except as provided in subsection (F);
- (3) the child testifies at the proceeding and is subject to cross-examination on the elements of the offense and the making of the out-of-court statement; and
- (4) the court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement provides particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.

(B) In determining whether a statement possesses **particularized guarantees of trustworthiness**, the court may consider, but is not limited to, the following factors:

- (1) whether the statement was elicited by leading questions;

- (2) whether the interviewer has been trained in conducting investigative interviews of children;
- (3) whether the statement represents a detailed account of the alleged offense;
- (4) whether the statement has internal coherence; and
- (5) sworn testimony of any participant which may be determined as necessary by the court.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175 (2014) (emphasis added).

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